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SONALI BANK (UK) LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The directors present the strategic report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Principal activity
The Bank's principal activity involves providing Trade Finance related services and corporate loans. Trade
Finance and Corporate Loans have remained the principal source of income for the past few years.
The range of business activities the Bank transacted during 2019 were:

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Trade Finance mainly relating to Bangladeshi imports and exports including discounting of bills, add
confirmation and negotiation etc;
Corporate Loan to Biman Bangladesh Airline (“Biman”), the national carrier of Bangladesh and fully
owned by the Government of Bangladesh;
Lending of funds to banks in the UK and to selected Bangladeshi banks;
Deposit taking from banks that are incorporated and operated in Bangladesh; and
Remittance services to the Bangladeshi community in the UK.

Review and analysis of the business during the year
Business Objectives
The Bank’s main business objective continues to be the provision of Trade Finance and Trade Finance
Banking related services for Bangladeshi banks. It also aims to provide services to individuals and
businesses in the form of foreign exchange remittances from the UK to Bangladesh. Credit facilities have
been largely confined to those in support of foreign trade transactions and no bad debts have arisen from
this business.
Another significant objective has been the provision of large corporate finance loans towards state owned
organisations in Bangladesh.
The Bank continued to maintain a small treasury investment portfolio in highly-rated debt securities to
enhance yield.
Review of the business
Profit before tax (PBT) for the year was £1,004,184 (2018: £68,973).
In 2019, management continued with plans to update and prepare the infrastructure for future growth. This
also included exploring business development options that would foster further growth in our trade finance
and remittance business lines. While total income declined for the year, mainly due to the repayment of the
Biman corporate loan, this was offset by increased income from discounted bills. Rigid cost control saw an
even bigger decline in total expenditure, which together translated into the Bank achieving improved
profitability for 2019.
Total Income
Total income, which includes interest income, fees and commissions and other operating income, for the
year was £6.6m (2018: £7.89m). Reducing by 16% for the year, the significant contributors to the change in
total income is mainly attributable to the repayment of the Biman Pre-Delivery Payment (PDP) loan.
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Key constituents of total income (and change compared to last year):

•

Interest income £5.9m (2018: £7.4m), a decrease of 19%, inclusive of:
• Interest income from discounted bills of £2.1m (2018: £1.0m) an increase of 107%,
• Gross interest income from PDP loans to Biman of £1.7m (2018: £4.2m) a decrease of 58%.

•

Fees and commission income £367k (2018: £305k) an increase of 20%, inclusive of:
• Commission income from Trade Finance £264k (2018: £195k) an increase of 35%, and
• Commission income from Remittance business £103k (2018: £109k) a decrease of 5%.

Total interest expense and operating expenses
Key constituents of Total interest expense and operating expenses are:
• Total interest expense £1.7m (2018: £3.36m), a decrease of 48%, Interest margins are reported in
note 4.
• Operating expenses £3.6m (2018: £4.2m), a decrease of 14%. inclusive of:
• Personnel expenses £2.0m (2018: £2.0m) no change, and
• Legal and professional fees £641k (2018: £812k) a decrease of 21%.
Provisions held
Provisions for liabilities and charges were £98k (2018: £142k). The largest provision relates to retail customer
compensation claims arising from the Oldham branch (closed in 2015).
Financial position at the reporting date
The total size of the balance sheet was £144.1m (2018: £204.9m). Loans to customers decreased during the
year as the £51m PDP financing loan to Biman matured. The composition of the balance sheet also changed
as more trade finance business was written, and the bank’s liquidity management policy was updated to hold
more high quality liquid assets in the form of government securities.
SBUK’s liquidity position continues to be managed in line with policies. SBUK did not face liquidity challenges
in the year 2019 and will continue to pursue a similar liquidity management policy in the future. The Bank has
remained well capitalised and at the end of the year, the Bank had a healthy balance of available capital over
and above its regulatory capital requirement.
There was no change in issued share capital in 2019.

Future developments
The Bank has continued to follow its strategy of emphasising its Trade Finance business which is considered
to be the best opportunity for the Bank in order to ensure its sustainability both in the short term as well as in
the long term. The Bank will continue to place emphasis on a conservative and risk aware approach to its
business whilst aiming for steady growth. The Board discussed a three-year strategic Business Plan in its
meeting held in October 2019 covering 2020-22. Business development activities in Bangladesh to develop
Trade Finance business have proved to be productive. In 2020 the Bank will explore additional business
lines that are aligned to the strengths and competitive advantages of the Bank. The Bank will also explore
further opportunities to undertake further Pre-Deliver Payments (PDP) transactions. If good opportunities for
further business arise, these will be assessed in line with the Bank’s conservative lending rules.
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Brexit
Brexit is not anticipated to have any significant impact on the Bank, as the Trade Finance business transacts
mostly with customers outside the EU. Net exposures against Pound sterling are not material, and therefore
the effect of movements in the Pound are not expected to have a material impact on the Bank.

Covid-19
The Covid-19 pandemic is not anticipated to have any significant impact on the operations and resilience of
the Bank, as the Bank’s business continuity plans have been invoked and are performing as expected to
maintain business-as-usual operations. Where the UK Government has directed businesses to close, branch
services will restrict UK customer service to telephone remittances only. As a consequence of the central
bank rate reductions, and a general decline in worldwide, and specifically Bangladesh, international trade,
the Bank is anticipating reduced interest and commission income. Should this pandemic persist and lead into
prolonged economic malaise, then the Bank would not reach its projected profit target for 2020 and could
record a loss for the coming year. The Bank maintains a significant surplus of capital, and thus would remain
a going concern. Capital stress tests on a market-wide disruption also support this assessment that the Bank
would remain as a going concern.

Climate change
The effect and impact of climate change is regularly assessed by the Board and senior management. As
such, the Board manages risks related to climate change through the Bank’s risk management policies and
risk register. This includes setting risk policies reflecting the Board’s priorities on ensuring climate changerelated risks are cognisant of current regulatory guidance, socially responsible lending and to mitigate the
bank’s own transition risks.
The risk dashboards monitor financial and transition risks relating to climate change that impact the Bank
and its property and staff, our customers and their ability to make payments, our suppliers, the government
and regulators, and the communities we serve in the United Kingdom and Bangladesh.

Governance
During the year under review the Board continued to monitor and shape the overall business. It provided
strategic direction and set the risk appetite for the Bank to satisfy the stakeholders and to achieve the Bank’s
objectives. Training for the Board members and senior management has been undertaken to update them
with the latest regulatory and legal developments.
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The performance of the Bank in 2019 in comparison to 2018 is presented by using the following key
performance indicators:
£ are stated in thousands

Performance Indicator

2019

2018

Change

Total Income

£6,601

£7,890

-16%

Total Expenditure

£5,597

£7,821

-28%

Profit/(Loss) before tax

£1,004

£69

1356%

15%

1%

1640%

£144,072

£204,912

-30%

£62,593

£61,812

1%

Return on Capital*

1.60%

0.11%

1338%

Return on Assets*

0.70%

0.03%

1970%

Regulatory Capital Required

£23,249

£23,790

-2%

Capital Available

£62,593

£61,812

1%

247%

227%

9%

Net Profit/(loss) to Total Income*
Total Assets
Capital and Reserves

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (%)

* Profitability ratios have been calculated based on profit before tax and on the year-end Capital and Reserves

General risk control & Management Information
Overall, the Bank’s risk profile remains risk averse. Management continually monitors the key risks that the
Bank faces using the Key Risk Indicators within the Risk Dashboards and assesses the controls used for
managing these risks. The Board’s Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee (ARCC) receives bi-monthly reports
of all major risks; Risk Dashboard Management Information and the Risk Register. Risk issues are discussed
at Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (ARCC) meetings in order to assess their relevance and their
possible impact. The Board of Directors formally reviews and documents the accepted risks within the Risk
Appetite Statement on an annual basis.

Operational risk
The Bank regularly updates its policies and procedures for safeguarding against operational risks. This is
an ongoing and evolutionary process which reflects the ever-changing methods of doing business.
The Bank has identified a number of key operational risk areas and these are monitored on a regular basis
via the Operational Risk Dashboard and Operational Risk Incident Log.
Operational risk has a significant impact on the continuity of the business and growth of the Bank. The
Management conduct regular reviews of the effectiveness of internal controls covering material risks
including operational risk. The Board obtains confirmation as required that management takes the necessary
action to remedy any weaknesses identified through the operation of the Bank’s control framework, and
through the internal audit process.

-4-

SONALI BANK (UK) LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Risks and uncertainties arising from financial instruments
Liquidity risk and liquidity management
The Bank has been following and will continue to follow a ‘risk averse’ policy in regard to liquidity
management. A high level of liquidity is maintained at all times in accordance with long established practices
to allow the Bank to withstand any sudden or extreme liquidity situation. There were no unexpected outflows
of funds in the year.
The Bank’s objectives include the ability to meet known and anticipated withdrawals, tax liabilities and
management expenses. Sufficient liquidity is maintained and monitored regularly via the Liquidity Risk
Dashboard. The closure of retail business has no material impact on liquidity of the Bank.
The Bank has not faced liquidity challenges in the past and it will continue to pursue a similar liquidity
management policy into the future, as described above and in note 4 of the financial statements.
Credit risk and credit management
The Bank’s primary exposure to credit risk is through Money Market Placements, Discounting of Bills,
advising letters of credit relating to Trade Finance transactions and short-term loans to banks in Bangladesh.
The Bank’s management and ARCC monitors the risks reported within the Credit Risk Dashboard and uses
their extensive knowledge and experience to assess credit risk. In addition, reference is made to rating
agencies and other external analysis. This approach is supported by the fact that the Bank has never had
any credit loss.
Interest rate risk and interest rate management
It is the Bank’s policy to match interest bearing assets and liabilities. All interest-bearing liabilities are
monitored in line with market movements, with the exception of term deposit accounts where the interest rate
is fixed in advance. The Bank is subject to minimal interest rate risk but the Bank’s management and ARCC
monitors the risks reported within Liquidity Risk Dashboard.
Foreign currency risk and foreign currency management
The Bank has assets and liabilities in foreign currencies. Taking into account the short-term nature of the
Bank’s foreign currency transactions, exchange gains or losses are recognised in the profit or loss as they
arise. The Bank’s policy is to restrict its net open position to £2,000,000. This limit is monitored at all times
and the Bank’s management and ARCC monitors the risks reported within the Market Risk Dashboards. The
Bank does not currently deal in Derivative instruments for speculative purposes; however it holds foreign
exchange currency swaps to manage its operational exposure to foreign currency risk arising on certain
transactions and balances (see note 4.5).
Capital risk and capital management
The Bank maintains a sound Capital position which is above the regulatory requirement under stress and
normal business conditions. The Bank continuously monitors its capital position and the Management and
ARCC monitors the risk reported within Finance and Capital Adequacy Dashboard. The Bank has
implemented CRD IV capital requirement regime and complies with these rules.
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Section 172(1) statement
The Bank’s directors have a duty, under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 to promote the success of
the Bank for the benefit of its members as a whole. In doing so, section 172 requires the directors to have
regard, amongst other matters, to:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

the likely consequences of any decision in the long term,
the interests of the company's employees,
the need to foster the company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others,
the impact of the company's operations on the community and the environment,
the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct, and
the need to act fairly as between members of the company.

The directors give due consideration to the above matters in discharging their duties under section 172.
The Board receive regular reports and updates from senior management on matters concerning employees,
customers, regulators, shareholders, suppliers, communities and the government. In designing the Bank’s
2020-22 business plan the Board considered the long-term beneficial impact on the Bank and to deliver better
services and products to our customers and the communities we serve and operate in. Directors also receive
and consider reports on key issues, such as climate change and the impact on our stakeholders, and
operational resilience and the impact on our customers, suppliers and other stakeholders.
An example of this has been the decision-making on the Bank’s London property strategy, where the directors
considered the implications of renovating the existing property or moving to a different location. For the staff,
renovating the property would enhance the office environment in which they work, and for our UK customers,
having a physical location in the borough where over a third of our target customers live, shows our longterm commitment to them and their community.
Directors engage with stakeholders through attendance of employee culture conferences, meetings with
regulators, attending British Bangladeshi community and Bangladesh High Commission charitable and other
events, and regularly meeting the Bangladesh government and shareholders.

Approval
This report was approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

Mohammed Sarwar Hossain
Director
15 April 2020
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The directors present their annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.
As permitted by Schedule 7 to the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports)
Regulations 2008, the financial risk management objectives and policies, exposure to risks and future
developments of the Bank, which are required to be disclosed in the Directors’ Report have been omitted as
they are included in the Strategic Report on pages 1 to 6.
Results and dividends
The results for the year are set out on page 17.
No interim dividend was paid during the year. The Directors recommend a final dividend of £nil (2018: £nil).
Directors
The directors who served during the year and up to the date of signature of the financial statements were as
follows:

Peter John Haines*
Mohammed Sarwar Hossain
Steven George Boult
M Fazlul Haque
Ziaul Hasan Siddiqui
Ian Douglas Francis Ogilvie*
SM Mahmud Hussain*
Md. Obayed Ullah Al Masud
Paul Mark Johnson*

(Appointed 10 January 2019)

(Appointed 2 December 2019)
(Appointed 2 December 2019)
(Resigned 18 September 2019)
(Resigned 2 December 2019)
(Resigned 31 December 2019)

* Independent Non-Executive Director
The Directors had no beneficial interests in the share capital of the Bank nor held the rights to subscribe for
shares in the Bank during the year.
Qualifying third party indemnity provisions
A Directors and Officers insurance policy is maintained with the cost borne by the Bank.
Statement on engagement with customers, suppliers and other parties with a business relationship
with the bank
The section 172 statement on page 6 of the Strategic Report covers this disclosure.
Going concern
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, as the Directors are satisfied that the Bank
has sufficient resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. In making this assessment, the
Directors have considered future projections of profitability, liquidity, capital resources and the Bank’s risk
profile. Management has assessed the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that it
has the financial resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. This includes available capital
at 31 December 2019, over our regulatory requirements of £39.3m; a liquidity coverage ratio of 247% against
a requirement of 100%; and positive profit and cash flow projections. Having regard to all of the above, the
Board is of the opinion that the Bank will be able to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial
statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.
The approach and factors the directors consider when assessing going concern is detailed on note 1.3 of
financial statements. The assessment in relation to Covid-19 is mentioned on page 3 of the strategic report,
and note 40 of the financial statements.
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Future developments
The Bank will continue to place emphasis on Trade Finance business. This has been discussed in detail at
page 2 (future developments) of the Strategic Report.
Auditor
Pursuant to section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and Mazars
LLP will therefore continue in office.
Statement of disclosure to auditor
So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no relevant
audit information of which the company’s auditor is unaware. Additionally, the directors individually have
taken all the necessary steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware
of all relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware of that information.

On behalf of the board

Mohammed Sarwar Hossain
Director
15 April 2020
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
they have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU) and applicable law.
Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of its profit or loss for that period. In
preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to:

•
•
•
•
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant and reliable;
state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;
assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern; and
use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company
or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Company
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the Company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

This responsibility statement was approved by the board of directors on 7 April 2020 and is signed on their
behalf by:

Mohammed Sarwar Hossain
Director
15 April 2020
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Sonali Bank (UK) Limited (the ‘Bank’) for the year ended 31
December 2019 which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of financial position,
the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union.

In our opinion the financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view of the state of the Bank's affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of its profit
for the year then ended;

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and

•

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require
us to report to you where:
•

the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or

•

the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties
that may cast significant doubt about the Bank’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest
effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
We summarise below the key audit matter in forming our audit opinion above, together with an overview of
the principal audit procedures performed to address the matter and, where relevant, key observations arising
from those procedures.
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These matters, together with our findings, were communicated to those charged with governance through
our Audit Completion Report.

Area of focus
Credit Risk – Loans and advances
The Bank adopted IFRS 9 from 1
January 2018. IFRS 9 requires loan
loss provisions to be determined on
an Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”)
basis.
At 31 December 2019, the loan loss
provision was £87,886 (2018:
119,500) and the charge to income
statement was £31,289.
Loan loss provisions are an
inherently judgemental area due to
the use of subjective assumptions
and a high degree of estimation.

How our audit addressed the area of focus
We have assessed the design and implementation of the key
controls operating at the Bank in relation to credit risk for all
financial assets and relevant financial commitments.
Furthermore, we performed the following procedures:
•
Reviewed the credit files for significant exposures and
higher credit risk counterparty banks in Asia Pacific to
identify indicators of deterioration in credit quality.
•
Performed credit assessments for a sample of
performing financial assets.
In respect of the model used to determine expected credit losses
we:
•

Considered the appropriateness of methodology used
by management;

The largest element of credit risk
relates to Loans and Advances to
Banks comprising drawn facilities of
£108m and undrawn facilities of £1m
where the bank is exposed through
trade
finance
business
to
correspondent banks in overseas
locations.

•

Tested the mathematical integrity of the model;

•

Reviewed the assumptions used by management in
applying the methodology adopted and assessed for
reasonableness;

•

Tested the completeness of the loan portfolio and the
accuracy of data inputs applied to the model;

The model used by the Bank to
determine expected credit losses
requires
judgement
to
the
assumptions as set out in Note 1.10
of the financial statements.

•

Tested the process in place at the Bank to allocate loans
to the IFRS 9 credit risk stages;

•

Assessed the suitability and relevance of the key
assumptions applied to determine probability of default
and loss given default; and

•

Engaged our credit risk specialists to review the
appropriateness of the Expected Credit Loss (ECL)
model used.

The most significant areas where we
identified
greater
levels
of
management judgement required
were:
- staging of loans
- key assumptions in the
model including probability of
default (“PD”) and loss given
default (“LGD”) where the
use of external credit rating
agency and other industry
data reports is used

Our observations
We found the approach taken in respect of loan loss provisions
to be consistent with the requirements of IFRS 9 and judgements
made were reasonable.

The expected credit loss provision is
set out in Note 19 of the financial
statements.
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Impact of the outbreak of COVID19 on the financial statements
Since the balance sheet date there
has been a global pandemic from
the outbreak of COVID-19, The
potential impact of COVID-19
became significant in March 2020
and
is
causing
widespread
disruption to normal patterns of
business activity across the world,
including the UK and Bangladesh.
The directors’ consideration of the
impact on the financial statements
are disclosed in strategic report on
page 3, the going concern
assessment on page 7 and in Note
1.3 – accounting policies. Whilst the
situation is still evolving, based on
the information available at this point
in time, the directors have assessed
the impact of COVID-19 on the
business and have concluded that
adopting the going concern basis of
preparation is appropriate.
As per Note 40 to the financial
statements, the directors have also
concluded that COVID-19 is a nonadjusting post balance sheet event.

We assessed the directors’ conclusion that the matter be treated
as a non-adjusting post balance sheet event and that adopting
the going concern basis for preparation of the financial
statements is appropriate. We considered:
•
•

The timing of the development of the outbreak across
the world and in the UK; and
How the financial statements and business operations of
the Bank might be impacted by the disruption.

In forming our conclusions over going concern, we evaluated how
the directors’ going concern assessment considered the impacts
arising from COVID-19 as follows:
•

•

•
•

•

We reviewed the directors’ going concern assessment
including COVID-19 implications based on a range of
scenarios and a ‘reverse stress tested scenario’ as
approved by the board of directors.
We made enquiries of directors to understand the period
of assessment considered, potential impact of COVID 19
on the Bank’s performance, business operations, and
regulatory and liquidity positions;
We evaluated the key assumptions used in all scenarios
indicated above and considered whether these
appeared reasonable;
We assessed the potential impact of COVID-19 on the
Bank’s capital utilisation and considered whether the
directors’ conclusion that adequate capital headroom
remained on all scenarios assessed was reasonable;
and
We evaluated the adequacy and appropriateness of the
directors’ disclosure in respect of COVID-19
implications, including subsequent events and going
concern.

Our observations
Based on the work performed, we are satisfied that the matter
has been appropriately reflected in the financial statements.
Our conclusions on going concern is set out above.

Our application of materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds
for materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit
and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and
disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and on the financial statements
as a whole. Based on our professional judgment, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a
whole as follows:
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Overall materiality
Overall materiality

£627,000

How we determined it

1% of net assets

Rationale for benchmark applied

In determining our materiality, we considered financial metrics
which we believed to be relevant. We believe that the benchmark
of net assets is most appropriate because the Bank’s Regulators
and shareholders remain interested in the Bank’s capital
adequacy.

Performance materiality

Performance materiality is set to reduce to an appropriately low
level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and
undetected misstatements in the financial statements exceeds
materiality of the financial statements as a whole.
Similarly, performance materiality relating to a materiality level
determined for a particular class of transactions, account balance
or disclosure is set to reduce to an appropriately low level the
probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected
misstatements in that particular class of transactions, account
balance or disclosure exceeds the materiality level for that
particular class of transactions, account balance or disclosure.
Performance materiality of £376,000 was applied in the audit.

Reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them
misstatements identified during our audit above £18,800 as well
as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted
reporting for qualitative reasons.

An overview of the scope of our audit, including extent to which the audit was considered capable of
detecting irregularities, including fraud
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risk of material misstatement in
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and then designed and performed audit procedures
responsive to those risks. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements such
as making assumptions on significant accounting estimates.
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed sufficient work to be able to give an opinion
on the financial statements as a whole. We used the outputs of a risk assessment, our understanding of the
Bank, its environment, controls and critical business processes, to consider qualitative factors in order to
ensure that we obtained sufficient coverage across all financial statement line items.
Our audit procedures were designed to respond to those identified risks, including non-compliance with laws
and regulations (irregularities) and fraud that are material to the financial statements. In identifying and
assessing risks of material misstatement in respect to irregularities including non-compliance with laws and
regulations, our procedures included but were not limited to:
•

at planning stage, we gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to
the Bank, the industry in which it operates and considered the risk of acts by the Bank which were
contrary to the applicable laws and regulations;
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•

we discussed with the management the policies and procedures in place regarding compliance with
laws and regulations; We discussed amongst the engagement team the identified laws and
regulations, and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance; and

•

during the audit, we focused on areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to
have a material effect on the financial statements from our general commercial and sector
experience and through discussions with the directors (as required by auditing standards), from
inspection of the Bank’s regulatory and legal correspondence and review of minutes of directors’
meetings in the year. We identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and
regulations related to breaches of regulatory requirements of the Prudential Regulatory Authority
and Financial Conduct Authority. We also considered those other laws and regulations that have a
direct impact on the preparation of financial statements, such as the Companies Act 2006 and UK
tax legislation.

Our procedures in relation to fraud included but were not limited to:
•

inquiries of management whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

•

gaining an understanding of the internal controls established to mitigate risk related to fraud;

•

discussion amongst the engagement team regarding risk of fraud such as opportunities for
fraudulent manipulation of financial statements, and determined that the principal risks were related
to posting manual journal entries to manipulate financial performance, management bias through
judgements and assumptions in significant accounting estimates, in particular in relation loan
impairments, and significant one-off or unusual transactions; and

•

addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls by performing journal entry
testing.

The primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of irregularities including fraud rests with both
those charged with governance and management. As with any audit, there remained a risk of non-detection
of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the
override of internal controls.
As a result of our procedures, we did not identify any “Key audit matters” relating to irregularities. The risks
of material misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit, including fraud, are discussed under “Key
audit matters” within this report.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is
a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact.
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Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•

the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

•

the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable
legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Bank and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Bank, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

•

the Bank financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

•

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 9, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.
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Other matters which we are required to address
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by those charged with governance
to audit the financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2018 and subsequent financial
periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is 2 years, covering the years ended 31 December
2018 to 31 December 2019.
The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the Bank and we
remain independent of the Bank in conducting our audit.
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee.

Use of the audit report
This report is made solely to the Bank’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Bank’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Bank and the
Bank’s members as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Greg Simpson (Apr 15, 2020)

Greg Simpson (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Mazars LLP
Chartered Accountants
Statutory Auditor

Date: 15 April 2020
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Notes

2019
£

2018
£

Continuing operations
Interest and similar income
Interest and similar expense

6
7

5,946,235
(1,728,842)
__________

Net Interest Income

Fees and commission income
Fees and commission expense

8
9

Net fee and commission income
Net income from other financial instruments at FVTPL
Impairment gains/(losses) on financial instruments
Other operating income

10
11

Net operating income

Administrative expenses
Personnel expenses
Depreciation and amortisation

12
14
25,26,27

32

4,217,393

3,976,038
__________

367,625
(63,834)

16

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

305,043
(139,900)

__________

__________

303,791

165,143

(156,483)
31,289
255,845

-

(54,500)
244,413

__________

__________

4,651,835

4,331,094

(1,558,498)
(2,045,869)
(86,884)

(2,108,582)
(2,066,509)
(72,031)

(3,691,251)
43,600
__________

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

__________

__________

__________
Total operating expenses
Provision for liabilities and charges

7,340,171
(3,364,133)

1,004,184
(190,780)

__________

(4,247,122)
(15,000)
__________

68,973
(13,993)

__________

__________

813,404

54,980

__________

__________

813,404

54,980

__________

__________

The income statement has been prepared on the basis that all operations are continuing operations.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Notes

2019
£

2018
£

ASSETS
Cash and bank balances
Loans and advances to banks

17
19

Loans and advances to customers
Derivative assets held for risk management
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment property
Investment securities
Deferred tax asset
Other assets

20
23
25
26
27
21
28
24

Total assets

19,784,528
108,083,363
12,110
925,749
1,171,343
28,848
-

13,651,599
5,668
408,513

34,750,995

112,469,093
51,065,643
1,158,999
-

24,100
4,000,000
21,431
1,421,474

__________

__________

144,071,721

204,911,735

__________

__________

80,635,192
568,343
176,380
98,422

142,131,426
815,824
10,447
142,022

LIABILITIES
Deposits from banks
Other liabilities

29
31

Current tax liabilities
Provisions

32

Total liabilities

__________

__________

81,478,337

143,099,719

__________

__________

61,463,800
1,129,584

61,463,800
348,216

__________

__________

EQUITY
Called up share capital
Retained earnings

37

Total equity
Total equity and liabilities

62,593,384

61,812,016

__________

__________

144,071,721

204,911,735

__________

__________

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 7 April 2020
and are signed on its behalf by

Mohammed Sarwar Hossain
Director
15 April 2020
Company Registration No. 3792250

The accompanying notes from page 21 to 63 form an integral part of these Financial Statements
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Notes

Share Capital
£

Balance at 1 January 2018

Year ended 31 December 2018:
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 31 December 2018

Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 16
Tax effect from initial application of IFRS 16

Retained
earnings
£

61,463,800

293,236

61,757,036

________

__________

-

54,980

54,980

__________

__________

__________

61,463,800

348,216

61,812,016

__________

________

__________

(27,381)
(4,655)
__________

Year ended 31 December 2019:
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

Balance at 31 December 2019

________

(27,381)
(4,655)
__________

61,463,800

316,180

61,779,980

__________

________

__________

-

813,404

813,404

__________

________

__________

61,463,800

1,129,584
________

__________

__________
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£

__________

2

Restated balance at 1 January 2019

Total

62,593,384

SONALI BANK (UK) LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

2019
Notes

£

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax from continuing operations
Adjustment for:
- Depreciation and amortisation
- (Reversal) / Provision made during the year

2018
£

£

68,973

1,004,184

- Foreign exchange gain
- Net impairment gain on loans and advances
- Net loss on derivatives at FVTPL
- Net gain on sale of investment property

£

86,884
(43,600)

72,031
15,000

(46,038)
(31,289)
12,346
(155,900)

(60,954)
26,077

(177,597)
Change in operating assets
Change in operating liabilities
Litigation and settlements during the year
Tax paid

48,881,209
(61,891,667)
57,500
(13,739)

23,314,061
(35,182,593)
-

Net cash outflow from operating activities

(12,966,697)

(11,773,482)

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets
Sale of investment property
Net cash used in investing activities

(6,742)

126,991

Financing activities
Payment of lease liabilities

-

(27,600)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing
activities

(27,600)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rates
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

(6,742)
-

(23,760)
(29,249)
180,000

18
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-

(12,040,719)

(11,780,224)

64,265,661
17,295

75,939,034
106,851

52,242,237

64,265,661

SONALI BANK (UK) LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

1

Accounting Policies
Company information
Sonali Bank (UK) Limited ("Sonali" or "the Bank" or "SBUK") is a private company limited by shares incorporated
in England and Wales. The Bank’s registration number is 3792250. The Bank is domiciled in the UK and its
registered office is 29-33 Osborn Street, London, England, E1 6TD. The principal activity of the Bank is described
on page 1.
The Bank is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority
and the Prudential Regulation Authority.

1.1 Accounting convention
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted for use in the European Union and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to
companies reporting under IFRS, (except as otherwise stated).
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for derivatives which are carried
at fair value. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.
This is the first set of the Group’s annual financial statements in which IFRS 16 Leases has been applied. The
related changes to significant accounting policies are described in Note 2.
1.2 Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are prepared in GBP sterling, which is the functional currency of the company. Monetary
amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £. The Bank is carrying out business mainly
in Pounds sterling (GBP), United States Dollar (USD), Euros (EUR) and Bangladesh Taka (BDT).
1.3 Going concern
The directors have at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the company
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. As mentioned on page 7 of
the Directors report, the Directors assessment is based upon their consideration of future projections of
profitability, liquidity, capital resources. As a result of the market uncertainty due to the ongoing COVID-19
coronavirus pandemic, the Directors have performed a detailed stress test to confirm that the Bank will be able
to operate for at least the following 12 months. The negative financial impacts of the coronavirus outbreak on
the robustness of Bank’s financial position are currently assessed as limited, but this will be kept under review
as the situation develops. The Covid-19 assessment is mentioned on page 3 of the Strategic report and note 40
below.
In assessing the potential impact on the Bank based on the most likely scenarios, management have prepared
various financial projections of impacts based on assumptions including credit deterioration in the Bank’s
counterparties and reductions in business flows from UK and Overseas customers.
Further factors taken into account based on UK shutdown lasting around 9 months with a return to normal trading
over the following January 2021 to 31 March 2021 and taking account of anticipated management actions.
The Bank has also assessed its resilience based on a reverse stress test scenario of regulatory capital utilisation
which directors concluded as highly remote. Results of all scenarios, including the ‘reverse stress test’ above,
confirmed that the Bank will have sufficient capital and resources for the next 12 months.
Having regard to all of the above, the Board is of the opinion that the Bank will be able to continue as a going
concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

- 21 -

SONALI BANK (UK) LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

1.4 Presentation of Financial Statements
The Bank presents its Statement of Financial Position in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding settlements
within 12 months after the reporting date (current) and more than 12 months after the reporting date (non–
current) is presented in note 4.
1.5 Income
Income is comprised of interest income, fees and commissions, rental income and net income from other
financial instruments at FVTPL.
Income is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. The company recognises income when it transfers control of a product or
service to a customer.
Commission and fee income generated from remittance and trade finance activity is recognised when the service
or transaction is executed, except advising on letters of credit, when the letter is negotiated after 90 days in
arrears.
Net income from other financial instruments at FVTPL relates to non-trading derivatives held for risk
management purposes.
When cash inflows are deferred and represent a financing arrangement, the fair value of the consideration is the
present value of the future receipts. The difference between the fair value of the consideration and the nominal
amount received is recognised as interest income.
Income from contracts for the provision of professional services is recognised by reference to the stage of
completion when the stage of completion, costs incurred and costs to complete can be estimated reliably. The
stage of completion is calculated by comparing costs incurred, mainly in relation to contractual hourly staff rates
and materials, as a proportion of total costs. Where the outcome cannot be estimated reliably, income is
recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.
1.6 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost or valuation,
net of depreciation and any impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over their useful
lives on the following bases:
Freehold land and buildings
Fixtures and fittings
Computers

20 to 40 years
5 to 20 years
3 years

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds
and the carrying value of the asset, and is recognised in the income statement.
1.7 Investment properties
Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, is measured at cost,
net of depreciation and any impairment losses.
Investment property is depreciated over forty years on a straight-line basis.
1.8 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
At each reporting end date, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the company estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
1.9 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents as referred to in the cash flow statement comprises cash on hand, nostro accounts
with different banks, designated money market placements (money at call) and amounts due from banks on
demand. Cash and cash equivalents are held at amortised cost.
1.10 Financial assets
Initial recognition, classification and measurement
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
as at FVTPL:
•
•

the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and
the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (SPPI).

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
as at FVTPL:
•
•

the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets; and
the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.
In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
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Business model assessment
The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio
level because this best reflects the way the business is managed, and information is provided to management.
The information considered includes:
•

•
•

the objectives and policies for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular,
whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a
particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities
that are funding those assets or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;
how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Bank’s management; and
the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and its strategy for how those risks are managed;

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis
are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect
contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.
Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and
costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as profit margin. In assessing whether the contractual
cash flows are SPPI, the Bank considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing
whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Bank considers:
•
•
•
•
•

contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;
leverage features;
prepayment and extension terms;
terms that limit the Bank’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse loans); and
features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of interest rates).

Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Bank currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it
intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Impairment of financial assets
The Bank recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial instruments that
are not measured at FVTPL:
•
•

financial assets that are debt instruments, and
loan commitments issued.

The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they
are measured as 12-month ECL:
•
•

debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not increased
significantly since their initial recognition.
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12-month ECL are the portion of lifetime ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Financial instruments for which a 12-month ECL is recognised
are referred to as ‘Stage 1 financial instruments’.
Life-time ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial
instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is recognised but which are not credit-impaired are
referred to as ‘Stage 2 financial instruments’. 'Stage 3 financial instruments' are those which are credit-impaired.
Measurement of ECL
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Guided by IFRS9, they are measured as follows:
Financial assets
•
•

•
•
•
•

Stage 1
financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive);
Stage 2
financial assets that have a significant increase in credit risk, but not to the extent of being creditimpaired: as the present value of all cash shortfalls;
Stage 3
financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, considering events over the
lifetime of the contract;

Undrawn loan commitments
•

As the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to the Bank if the
commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive.

Financial guarantee contracts issued
•

The expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the Bank expects to recover.

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial
assets carried at FVOCI, are credit impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial asset is ‘credit
impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
•
•
•
•
•

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;
the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not consider otherwise;
it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually considered to be
credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced
significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment.
In making an assessment of whether an investment in sovereign debt is credit-impaired, the Bank considers the
following factors.
•

The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond yields.

- 25 -

SONALI BANK (UK) LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

•
•
•
•

The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness.
The country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance.
The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses through voluntary or
mandatory debt forgiveness.
The international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support as ‘lender of last resort’
to that country, as well as the intention, reflected in public statements, of governments and agencies to
use those mechanisms. This includes an assessment of the depth of those mechanisms and,
irrespective of the political intent, whether there is the capacity to fulfil the required criteria.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:
•
•

financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the
assets;
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision;

Derivatives held for risk management purposes
Derivatives held for risk management purposes include all derivative assets and liabilities that are not classified
as trading assets or liabilities. Derivatives held for risk management purposes are measured at fair value in the
statement of financial position.
Hedge accounting has been accounted for in line with IFRS 9.
The Bank has not designated any derivatives as hedging instruments in qualifying hedging relationship.
Write-off
Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case when the Bank
determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset level.
Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘impairment losses on financial instruments’ in the
statement of profit or loss. Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in
order to comply with the Bank's procedures for recovery of amounts due.
Derecognition of financial assets
Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to another entity
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1.11 Financial liabilities
The Bank classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as measured
at amortised cost or FVTPL
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. They
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense
recognised on an effective yield basis.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when, the company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled,
or they expire.
1.12 Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported
in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Bank’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting end date.
Deferred tax
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting
profit.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting end date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it
relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the company has a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority.
1.13 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the company has a legal or constructive present obligation as a result of a past
event and it is probable that the company will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the reporting end date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows.
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When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received, and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
1.14 Employee benefits
The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense, unless those costs are
required to be recognised as part of the cost of inventories or non-current assets.
The cost of any unused holiday entitlement is recognised in the period in which the employee’s services are
received.
Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the company is demonstrably committed
to terminate the employment of an employee or to provide termination benefits.
1.15 Retirement benefits
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due.
1.16 Leases
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
At inception of a contract, the Bank assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the
Bank uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16. This policy is applied to contracts entered into (or changed) on
or after 1 January 2019.
As a lessee
At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Bank allocates
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative standalone price. However, for
leases of branches and office premises the Bank has elected not to separate non-lease components and
accounts for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.
The Bank recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-ofuse asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove any improvements made to branches or office premises.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date
to the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if
any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate. The Bank determines its incremental borrowing rate by
analysing its borrowings from various external sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the
lease and type of asset leased
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
•
•
•
•

fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;
amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
the exercise price under a purchase option that the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise, lease
payments in an optional renewal period if the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option,
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and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Bank is reasonably certain not to terminate
early
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Bank’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Bank changes its
assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised insubstance fixed lease payment.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.
The Bank presents right-of-use assets in ‘property plant and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘other liabilities’
in the statement of financial position.
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and
short-term leases, including leases of IT equipment. The Bank recognises the lease payments associated with
these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
As a lessor
At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Bank allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
When the Bank acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether the lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease.
To classify each lease, the Bank makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a
finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Bank considers certain
indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.
Policy applicable before 1 January 2019
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessees. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term.
Rentals payable under operating leases, less any lease incentives received, are charged to income on a straight
line basis over the term of the relevant lease except where another more systematic basis is more representative
of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the lease asset are consumed.
1.17 Foreign exchange
Transactions in currencies other than pounds sterling are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. At each reporting end date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the reporting end date. Gains and losses arising on
translation are included in the income statement for the period.
1.18 Intangibles
Intangible assets acquired are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis to allocate the cost of the intangible assets over their
estimated useful lives of 3 years.
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2

Adoption of new and revised standards and changes in accounting policies
The Bank initially applied the following standard from 1 January 2019.
•

IFRS 16 Leases

A number of other new standards are also effective from 1 January 2019, but they do not have a material effect
on the Bank’s financial statements.
IFRS 16 Leases
The Bank applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, under which the cumulative effect of initial
application is recognised in retained earnings at 1 January 2019. Accordingly, the comparative information
presented for 2018 is not restated – i.e. it is presented, as previously reported, under IAS 17 and related
interpretations. The details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed below. Additionally, the disclosure
requirements in IFRS 16 have not generally been applied to comparative information.
(a) Definition of a lease
On transition to IFRS 16, the Bank elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of
which transactions are leases. The Bank applied IFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as
leases. Contracts that were not identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed for whether
there is a lease under IFRS 16.
(b) As a lessee
As a lessee, the Bank leases very few assets. The Bank previously classified leases as operating or finance
leases based on its assessment of whether the lease transferred significantly all of the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to the Bank. Under IFRS 16, the Bank recognises right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for most of these leases – i.e. these leases are on-balance sheet.
For leases of property the Bank has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease
and associated non-lease components as a single lease component.
Previously, the Bank classified property leases as operating leases under IAS 17. On transition, for these leases,
lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the derived
incremental borrowing rate applicable at the date of transition. Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost,
which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date.
The Bank has tested its right-of-use assets for impairment on the date of transition and has concluded that there
is no indication that the right-of-use assets are impaired.
The Bank used a number of practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as
operating leases under IAS 17. In particular, the Bank:
•
•
•

did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases for which the lease term ends within 12
months of the date of initial application;
did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases of low value assets (e.g. IT equipment);
excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application.
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(c) Impact on transition
On transition to IFRS 16, the Bank recognised additional right-of-use assets, and additional lease liabilities,
recognising the difference in retained earnings. The impact on transition is summarised below.
When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the Bank discounted lease
payments using its derived incremental borrowing rate applicable at 1 January 2019. The weighted average rate
applied is 3.3%.
1 January 2019
£
Operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018 as disclosed under IAS
17 in the Bank’s financial statements

109,644

Discounted at 1 January 2019

102,329

Lease liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019

102,329

On transition to IFRS 16, the Bank recognised additional right-of-use assets and additional lease liabilities,
recognising the difference in retained earnings. The impact on transition is summarised below.

Right-of-use assets presented in property and equipment
Deferred tax asset
Lease liabilities
Retained earnings

1 January 2019
£
74,947
4,655
102,329
27,381

Other standards effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
The adoption of the following standards, amendment and interpretations in the current year have not had a
material impact on the Bank ‘s financial statements.
•
•
•
•
•

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IAS 28)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Amendments in relation to prepayment features with negative
compensation
Annual Improvements to IFRSs (2015 2017 cycle)
IAS 19 Employee Benefits: Amendments in relation to plan amendment, curtailment or settlement

Standards which are in issue but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations, which
have not yet been applied in these financial statements, were in issue but not yet effective (and in some cases
had not yet been adopted by the EU):
•
•
•

Conceptual Framework: Amendments to references to the conceptual framework in IFRS standards
IFRS 3 Business Combinations: Amendments in relation to the definition of a business
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors: Amendments in relation to the definition of material
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•
•

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and IFRS
7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Amendments arising from the Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

The Bank has not adopted any of these standards, amendments or interpretations early.
None of those standards that are not yet effective, are expected to have any significant impact on the Bank’s
financial statements in the period of initial application.

3

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
In the application of the Bank’s accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
The estimates and assumptions which have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities are outlined below.
Critical judgements
•

•

establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on the financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition, determining the methodology for incorporating forward-looking
information into the measurement of ECL and selection and approval of models used to measure
ECL (refer note 1.10).
classification of financial assets: assessment of the business model within which the assets are
held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are SPPI on the
principal amount outstanding (refer note 1.10).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
•

•
•
•
•

impairment of financial instruments: determination of inputs into the ECL measurement model,
including key assumptions used in estimating recoverable cash flows and incorporation of forwardlooking information (refer note 1.10).
measurement of the fair value of financial instruments with significant unobservable inputs (refer
note 1.10).
recognition of deferred tax assets: availability of future taxable profit against which carry-forward
tax losses can be used (refer note 1.12).
recognition and measurement of provisions for liabilities: key assumptions about the likelihood and
magnitude of an outflow of resources. (refer note 1.13).
expected useful life of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets (refer note 1.6 and
1.18).
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4

Financial risk management

4.1 Financial instrument and risk management
Risk is inherent in the Bank’s activities but is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement
and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is critical to the Bank’s
continuing viability and each individual within the Bank is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or her
responsibilities.
The Bank is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate risk. It is also subject to
country risk and various operating risks.
The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the environment,
technology and industry. The Bank's policy is to monitor those business risks through the Bank’s strategic
planning process.
4.2 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk arises because of
the possibility that the Bank might be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due under both
normal and stressed circumstances.
To limit this risk, it is the Bank’s policy to manage assets with liquidity in mind and monitoring future cash flows
and liquidity on a daily basis.
The Directors have designed a liquidity risk management policy in order to manage the Bank’s funding and
liquidity requirements. The objectives of the policy are:
•
•

to maintain adequate liquidity to meet known and anticipated withdrawals, wholesale funding
maturities, tax liabilities and capital and management expenses; and
to maintain adequate liquidity to cover unexpected cash flow imbalances.

The Bank operates a policy of holding surplus cash as a highly liquid resource, so that it always has enough to
cover all credit balances held by retail customers in current accounts and deposit accounts. This policy is
managed by the Treasury Manager, reviewed by the Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCO”) and endorsed by
the Board. The only other liquid resource the Bank maintains is an investment in a money market fund managed
by a third party. This acts as the Bank’s liquidity buffer in accordance with regulatory requirements.
There has been no change in Bank’s liquidity policy from previous year.
The following table details the remaining contractual maturity for the company's financial liabilities with agreed
repayment periods. The contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the company may be required
to pay.
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On
demand
£

1 – 3 3 months
months to 1 year
£
£

1–5
years
£

5 years +

Total

£

£

At 31 December 2019
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances

19,784,528

-

-

-

-

19,784,528

32,457,709

-

Loans and advances due from banks
- Money at call

-

-

-

32,457,709

- Discounted bills

- 36,905,159 31,312,864

-

-

68,218,023

- Fixed loans to banks

-

9,029,425

13,767

-

-

9,043,192

Loans and advances due from customers
- Loans to staff

7,249

972

41

4,000

-

12,262

- Loans to Bangladesh corporates

-

-

-

-

-

-

- Interest receivable

-

-

-

-

-

-

Derivative assets held for risk management

-

550,534

400,447

-

-

950,982

Other assets
- Other debtors
Investment securities
Total undiscounted financial assets

170,274

-

-

-

-

170,274

-

2,887,792

6,805,923

4,112,450

-

13,806,165

52,419,760 49,373,882 38,533,042

4,116,450

-

144,443,134

-

-

-

-

38,737 45,889,877

-

-

80,950,157

Financial liabilities
Deposits from banks
- Due to central banks
- Due to Sonali Bank Limited
- Due to other banks

35,021,543

-

97,742

-

-

-

-

97,742

- Due to corporates

-

-

-

-

-

-

- Due to retail customers

-

-

-

-

-

-

179,119

-

-

-

-

179,119

-

-

-

-

-

-

11,626

-

-

-

-

11,626

38,737 45,889,877

-

-

81,238,643

-

63,204,490

Customer accounts

Other liabilities
- Other creditors
- Interest payable
- Remittance funds held
Total undiscounted financial liabilities

35,310,030

Liquidity gap

17,109,730 49,335,145 (8,794,734)
)

4,116,450

Cumulative gap

17,109,730 66,444,875 59,088,040

63,204,490
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On
demand
£

1 – 3 3 months
months to 1 year
£
£

1–5
years
£

5 years +

Total

£

£

At 31 December 2018
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances

34,750,995

-

-

-

-

34,750,995

29,513,766

-

Loans and advances due from banks
- Money at call

-

-

-

29,513,766

- Discounted bills

- 24,818,616 24,275,856

-

-

49,094,472

- Fixed loans to banks

- 23,073,325 11,447,895

-

-

34,521,220

2,103

-

8,754

1,717,289 51,899,921

-

54,179,232

-

-

1,192,977

Loans and advances due from customers
- Loans to staff

5,208

1,443

- Loans to Bangladesh corporates

-

562,022

- Interest receivable

-

424,863

768,114

Other assets
- Other debtors
Investment securities
Total undiscounted financial assets

40,997

-

-

-

-

40,997

-

12,513

38,236

4,067,834

-

4,118,583

64,310,966 48,892,782 38,247,390 55,969,858

-

207,420,996

Financial liabilities
Deposits from banks
- Due to central banks
- Due to Sonali Bank Limited
- Due to other banks

44,103,773

374,929

1,145,616 51,619,282

90,888 46,977,514

-

53,139,827

-

-

91,172,175

40,767

-

-

-

-

40,767

- Due to corporates

-

-

-

-

-

-

- Due to retail customers

-

-

-

-

-

-

226,086

-

-

-

-

226,086

1,401

-

340,515

-

-

341,916

12,013

-

-

-

-

12,013

465,817 48,463,645 51,619,282

-

144,932,784

-

62,488,212

Customer accounts

Other liabilities
- Other creditors
- Interest payable
- Remittance funds held
Total undiscounted financial liabilities

44,384,040

Liquidity gap

17,109,730 48,426,965 (8,794,734) 4,350,576
)

Cumulative gap

19,926,926 68,353,891 58,137,636

62,488,212

62,488,212

4.3 Interest rate risk
It is the Bank’s policy to match the interest earned from assets with the interest borne by the liabilities and
mitigate interest rate risk arising from re-pricing mismatches of the Bank's assets and liabilities. All interestbearing liabilities are monitored in line with market movements, with the exception of term deposit accounts
where the interest rate is fixed in advance. The Bank is therefore, subject to minimal interest rate risk.
The majority of the Bank’s interest bearing liabilities are at fixed interest rates except for non-interest bearing
remittance funds held. All interest bearing assets are short term money market deposits, bills of exchange and
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current account balances. Therefore, there is no significant exposure to mismatched interest bearing assets and
liabilities.
The Bank’s financial assets and liabilities summarised in the table below are included at carrying amount and
categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates.
On
demand
£

1 – 3 3 months
months to 1 year
£
£

1 – 5 Non-interest
years
bearing
£
£

Total
£

At 31 December 2019
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances

19,784,528

-

-

-

-

19,784,528

32,457,709

-

Loans and advances due from banks
- Money at call

-

-

-

32,457,709

- Discounted bills

- 36,650,137 29,957,558

-

-

66,607,695

- Fixed loans to banks

-

9,017,959

-

-

-

9,017,959

Loans and advances due from customers
- Loans to staff

7,249

968

-

3,893

-

12,110

- Loans to Bangladesh corporates

-

-

-

-

-

-

- Interest receivable

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other assets
- Other debtors
Investment securities

170,274

-

-

-

-

170,274

-

2,883,865

6,763,616

4,004,442

-

13,651,923

52,419,760 48,552,929 36,721,174

4,008,335

-

141,702,197

Financial liabilities
Deposits from banks
- Due to central banks

-

-

-

-

- 45,515,908

-

-

80,537,451

97,742

-

-

-

-

97,742

- Due to corporates

-

-

-

-

-

-

- Due to retail customers

-

-

-

-

-

-

- Other creditors

-

-

-

-

179,119

179,119

- Interest payable

-

-

-

-

-

-

- Remittance funds held

-

-

-

-

11,626

11,626

- 45,515,908

-

190,745

80,825,937

(190,745)

60,876,260

- Due to Sonali Bank Limited
- Due to other banks

35,021,543

-

Customer accounts

Other liabilities

35,119,285
Interest rate sensitivity gap

17,300,475 48,552,929 (8,794,734) 4,008,335
)

Cumulative gap

17,300,475 65,853,403 57,058,670 61,067,005
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On
demand
£

1 – 3 3 months
months to 1 year
£
£

1 – 5 Non-interest
years
bearing
£
£

Total
£

At 31 December 2018
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances

34,750,995

-

-

-

-

34,750,995

29,513,766

-

Loans and advances due from banks
- Money at call

-

-

-

29,513,766

- Discounted bills

- 24,515,547 24,030,479

-

-

48,546,026

- Fixed loans to banks

- 23,000,000 11,409,300

-

-

34,409,300

2,103

-

8,754

- 51,056,889

-

51,056,889

-

-

1,192,977

Loans and advances due from customers
- Loans to staff

5,208

1,443

- Loans to Bangladesh corporates

-

-

-

- Interest receivable

-

424,863

768,114

40,997

-

-

-

-

40,997

-

-

-

4,000,000

-

4,000,000

64,310,966 47,941,853 36,207,893 55,058,992

-

203,519,704

Other assets
- Other debtors
Investment securities

Financial liabilities
Deposits from banks
- Due to central banks

-

51,056,889

- 46,929,996

-

-

91,033,769

40,767

-

-

-

-

40,767

- Due to corporates

-

-

-

-

-

-

- Due to retail customers

-

-

-

-

-

-

- Other creditors

-

-

-

-

214,232

214,232

- Interest payable

-

-

-

-

341,916

341,916

- Remittance funds held

-

-

-

-

12,013

12,013

- 46,929,996 51,056,889

568,161

142,699,586

(568,161)

60,820,118

- Due to Sonali Bank Limited
- Due to other banks

44,103,773

-

- 51,056,889

Customer accounts

Other liabilities

44,144,540
Interest rate sensitivity gap

20,166,426 47,941,853 (10,722,103) 4,002,103

Cumulative gap

20,166,426 68,108,279 57,386,176 61,388,279

60,820,118

The following sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to interest rate risk at the reporting
date. The hypothetical sensitivity of the Bank’s reported profit to a 1% increase or decrease in the respective
interest rates to which the Bank is exposed would be to £35,597 (2018: £89,849).
Interest received from loans and advances to banks were variable and ranged from 0.55% to 5.68%.
Management consider the carrying value to be equal to the fair value for all financial assets and liabilities as all
of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities mature within twelve months, except for the investment securities
which have maturities out to two years.
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2019
%

2018
%

Weighted

Fixed

Weighted

Fixed

0.00% - 0.30%

-

0.00% - 0.30%

-

- Money at call

0.55% - 2.50%

-

0.55% - 2.35%

-

- Discounted bills

4.45% - 5.68%

-

4.17% - 5.85%

-

- Fixed loans to banks

1.00% - 2.50%

-

0.72% - 2.50%

-

- Loans to staff

-

-

-

-

- Loans to Bangladesh corporates

-

-

5.51% - 5.80%

-

1.15% - 2.38%

-

1.25% - 1.28%

-

- Due to central banks

-

-

3.60% - 3.90%

-

- Due to Sonali Bank Limited

0.00% - 1.15%

-

0.00% - 1.15%

-

- Due to other banks

0.00% - 0.05%

-

0.00% - 0.05%

-

Assets
Cash and bank balances
Loans and advances due from banks

Loans and advances due from customers

- Interest receivable
Investment securities

Liabilities
Deposits from banks

4.4 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss as a result of any market counterparties failing to fulfil their contractual obligations.
The Bank’s primary exposure to credit risk is through financial instruments such as loans and advances due from
customers and discounted bills.
The Bank does not operate a large loan portfolio. The loans and advances due from customers balance of
£12,110 (2018: £51,065,643) principally comprise of staff loans (note 19). In 2018 this balance included the
corporate loan to Biman.
The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the management of credit risk to the Credit Committee.
The Credit Committee is responsible for all credit related risks and for developing and reviewing credit policy
guidelines. The Committee is responsible for reviewing all loans and advances granted by the Bank and also
responsible for ensuring the maintenance of a strong internal credit risk control. In addition, reference is made
to rating agencies and other external analysis as required. A prudent and conservative approach has been
adopted regarding the choice of counterparties in the past and the practice will be pursued.
The credit quality of all financial assets is considered to be satisfactory and in line with existing credit policies.
The Bank has not identified any assets that are past due in the current or prior year.
The Bank’s Credit Committee sets out the exposure limit for each counterparty on the basis of their past
performance, credit rating and business forecasts. On the basis of that, the Bank has not suffered credit losses
in the current or prior year.
The Bank’s exposure to concentration credit risk is through money market placements and discounted bills
relating to Trade Finance. The Bank does not have any significant exposure with any single counterparty.
Additionally, concentration of credit risk to any counterparty did not exceed the standard credit risk limit set out
by the Credit Committee.
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Credit exposure
There has been no change in the Bank’s credit policy from the previous year. The Bank’s maximum exposure to
credit risk is set out below:

Cash and bank balance
Due from banks
Due from customers
Other assets (excluding prepaid expenses)
Investment securities
Off balance sheet irrevocable commitments

2019
£
19,784,528
108,083,363
12,110
170,274
13,651,599
998,575

2018
£
34,750,995
112,469,093
51,065,643
1,233,974
4,000,000
4,426,580

142,700,449

207,946,285

Credit quality analysis
The Bank manages the credit quality of financial assets using internal and external credit ratings (e.g. Fitch).
The table below shows the credit quality by class of asset for all financial assets exposed to credit risk, based
on the Bank’s credit rating system. There are no amounts ‘past due but not impaired’ and no ‘individually
impaired’ amounts.
In the following tables, all the financial assets, amounting to £141,702,198 (2018: £203,519,704) are stage 1
assets, and have an impairment of £88,211 (2018: £119,500). There are no stage 2 or stage 3 impaired assets.
Neither past due nor impaired
AAA to A
BBB to B
£
£

Unrated
£

Total
£

2,020,127

-

19,784,528

At 31 December 2019
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances

17,764,401

Loans and advances due from banks
- Money at call

32,457,709

-

-

32,457,709

- Discounted bills

-

66,607,695

-

66,607,695

- Fixed loans to banks

-

9,017,959

-

9,017,959

- Loans to staff

-

-

12,110

12,110

- Loans to Bangladesh corporates

-

-

-

-

13,651,923

-

-

13,651,923

-

107,490

62,784

170,274

63,874,033

77,753,271

74,894

141,702,198

Loans and advances due from customers

Investment securities
Other assets
- Other debtors
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Neither past due nor impaired
AAA to A
BBB to B
£
£

Unrated
£

Total
£

6,425,391

-

34,750,995

29,513,766

-

-

29,513,766

-

48,546,026

-

48,546,026

23,000,000

11,409,300

-

34,409,300

At 31 December 2018
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances

28,325,604

Loans and advances due from banks
- Money at call
- Discounted bills
- Fixed loans to banks
Loans and advances due from customers
- Loans to staff

-

-

8,754

8,754

- Loans to Bangladesh corporates

-

51,056,889

-

51,056,889

4,000,000

-

-

4,000,000

-

1,192,977

40,997

1,233,974

84,839,370

118,630,583

49,751

203,519,704

Investment securities
Other assets
- Interest receivable and other debtors

Collateral held and other credit enhancements
The Bank holds collateral and other credit enhancements against certain of its credit exposures. See note 21 for
the types of collateral held against different types of financial assets.
Amounts arising from ECL
For Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment, see Measurement of ECL below.
Loss allowance
The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by class
of financial instrument. All amounts are stage 1.

Amortised cost

Loans and advances due from banks

Balance at
1 January
2019

Net
remeasurement of loss
allowance

New
financial
assets
originated

Financial
assets that
have been
derecognised

Balance at 31
December
2019

£

£

£

£

£

(119,500)

-

(87,886)

119,500

(87,886)

Loans and advances due from customers

-

-

-

-

-

Investment securities

-

(325)

-

-

(325)

(119,500)

(325)

(87,886)

119,500

(88,211)

Total Loss allowance
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Balance at
1 January
2018

Net
remeasurement of loss
allowance

New
financial
assets
originated

Financial assets
that have been
derecognised

Balance at 31
December
2018

£

£

£

£

£

(65,000)

-

(119,500)

65,000

(119,500)

Loans and advances due from customers

-

-

-

-

-

Investment securities

-

-

-

-

-

(65,000)

-

(119,500)

65,000

(119,500)

Amortised cost

Loans and advances due from banks

Total Loss allowance

Significant increase in credit risk
When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Bank considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Bank's
historical experience and expert credit assessment and including forward-looking information. The objective of
the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for an exposure by
comparing:
•
•

the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the reporting date;
with the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the time of initial recognition of the
exposure (adjusted where relevant for changes in prepayment expectations).

The Bank uses two criteria for determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk:
•
•

qualitative indicators; and
early warning indictors of debtors 30 days overdue.

Credit risk grades
The Bank allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on a variety of data that is determined to be
predictive of the risk of default and applying experienced credit judgement. Credit risk grades are defined using
qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of risk of default. These factors vary depending on the
nature of the exposure and the type of borrower. Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk grade on initial
recognition based on available information about the borrower. Exposures are subject to ongoing monitoring,
which may result in an exposure being moved to a different credit risk grade.
The table below provides an indicative mapping of how the Bank's internal credit risk grades relate to PD and,
for the treasury counterparties and Bangladesh banks portfolio, to external credit ratings of Fitch.

Description of grade
Standard monitoring – low to fair risk

PD range
0.05-0.80

Treasury counterparties and Bangladesh bank portfolio
Description of grade
Standard monitoring – low to fair risk
Standard monitoring - fair to medium risk

PD range
0.01-0.22
0.22-6.35
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Generating the term structure of PD
Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the term structure of PD for exposures. The Bank
collects performance and default information about its credit risk exposures analysed by jurisdiction or region
and by type of product and borrower as well as by credit risk grading.
Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly
The Bank assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition at each reporting date.
Determining whether an increase in credit risk is significant depends on the characteristics of the financial
instrument and the borrower, and the geographical region. The credit risk may also be deemed to have increased
significantly since initial recognition based on qualitative factors linked to the Bank's credit risk management
processes that may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis. This will be the
case for exposures that meet certain heightened risk criteria, such as placement on an early warning (watch)
list. Such qualitative factors are based on its expert judgment and relevant historical experiences. The Bank
monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify significant increases in credit risk by regular reviews to
calibrate against the activity on the early warning indicators, being the watch list and the non-performing asset
list.
Definition of default
The Bank considers a financial asset to be in default when:
•
•
•

the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Bank in full, without recourse by the Bank to
actions such as realising security (if any is held);
the borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material credit obligation to the Bank. or
it is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure the asset as a result of bankruptcy due to the
borrower’s inability to pay its credit obligations.

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Bank considers indicators that are:
•
•
•

qualitative: e.g. breaches of covenant;
quantitative: e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same issuer to the Bank;
and
based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over
time to reflect changes in circumstances. The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the Bank for
regulatory capital purposes.
Incorporation of forward-looking information
The Bank incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the credit risk of an
instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement of ECL. However, as
majority of the maturities for loans are within 12 months, applying a forward looking factor would have a negligible
effect thus it has not been included in the PD calculations.
Measurement of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:
•
•
•

probability of default (PD);
loss given default (LGD); and
exposure at default (EAD).

ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD and EAD. Lifetime ECL is
calculated by multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.
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The methodology of estimating PDs is discussed above under the heading ‘Generating the term structure of PD’.
LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Bank estimates LGD parameters based on the
history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models consider the structure,
collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the
financial asset.
EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank derives the EAD from the current
exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract and arising
from amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at the time of default. For lending
commitments, the EADs are potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated
based on historical observations. For financial guarantees, the EAD represents the amount of the guaranteed
exposure when the financial guarantee becomes payable.
As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for Stage 1 financial assets, the Bank
measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period (including any borrower’s
extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for credit risk management purposes, the Bank
considers a longer period. The maximum contractual period extends to the date at which the Bank has the right
to require repayment of an advance or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.
Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the
basis of shared risk characteristics that include:
•
•
•
•

instrument type;
credit risk gradings;
industry; and
geographic location of the borrower.

The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular group remain
appropriately homogeneous. For portfolios in respect of which the Bank has limited historical data, external
benchmark information is used to supplement the internally available data. The portfolios for which external
benchmark information represents a significant input into measurement of ECL are as follows.

Exposure
Trade Finance
Treasury counterparties, Bangladesh Banks

External benchmark used for PD and LGD
International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) trade register report
Standard & Poor’s (S&P), Fitch and Moody's default studies

Sensitivity analysis
The trade finance and treasury counterparty portfolios are not materially sensitive to changes in the inputs to the
ECL model, due to these portfolios having short durations (predominantly less than 180 days to maturity), and
low levels of PD
Set out below, for the Bangladesh banks portfolio, are the changes to the ECL as at 31 December 2019 that
would result from a possible fixed shift change in the PD and LGD parameters from the actual assumptions used
in the Bank's model.

-5%

PD

+100 bp
No Change
- 100 bp
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Concentrations of credit risk
An analysis of concentrations of credit risk from loans and advances, loan commitments, financial guarantees
and investment securities, by location, is shown below

Concentration by location

Asia Pacific
2019
2018
£
£

Cash and bank balances
Loans and advances due from banks

-

Europe
2019
£

2018
£

North America
2019
2018
£
£

4,117,211

19,126,523

26,595,100

658,005

4,038,683

91,968,708 77,469,092

8,109,898

18,000,000

8,004,755

17,000,000
-

Loans and advances due from customers

- 51,056,889

12,110

8,754

-

Other assets

-

-

170,274

1,233,974

-

-

Investment securities

-

-

3,996,350

2,000,000

9,655,573

2,000,000

998,575

4,426,580

-

-

-

-

92,967,283 137,069,772

31,415,156

47,837,828 18,318,333

23,038,683

Off balance sheet irrevocable commitments

For concentration by sector, loans and advances due from banks, are to Banks. Investment securities by sector
is per note 21, with Corporate bonds all issued by banks, and Government securities issued by OECD
governments. The concentration by sector for loans and advances due from customers is per note 20, being
unsecured retail lending (loans to staff).
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Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The following table summarises the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Note

Fair-value
hierarchy

2019
Carrying Fair Value
value

Carrying
value

2018
Fair Value

£

£

£

£

Cash and bank balances

1

1

19,784,528

19,784,528

34,750,995

34,750,995

Money at call

2

1

32,457,709

32,457,709

29,513,766

29,513,766

Loans and advances due from banks

3

2

75,625,654

75,625,654

82,955,326

82,955,326

Loans and advances due from customers 4

3

12,110

12,110

51,065,643

51,065,643

Other assets

6

3

408,513

408,513

1,421,474

1,421,474

Investment securities

5

2

13,651,599

13,651,599

4,000,000

4,000,000

Derivatives held of risk management

7

2

925,749

925,749

-

-

Deposits from banks

3

2

80,635,192

80,635,192

142,131,426

142,131,426

Other liabilities

6

3

568,343

568,343

815,824

815,824

1. These are balances with banks. The carrying amount of these financial assets are representative of their fair values.
2. These assets represent overnight placement with an international investment bank and short term placements with other banks.
The carrying value reflects fair value.
3. For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, however all these assets and liabilities are short term
with variable rates and carry no significant credit risk, therefore the carrying value is deemed to be equivalent to fair value.
4. This amount represents loan to staff. These loans carry no significant credit risk, therefore the carrying value is deemed to be
equivalent to fair value.
5. This amount represents government securities and highly-rated corporate debt securities. The government securities are shortterm treasury bills, and the corporate bonds are floating rate notes, therefore the carrying value for all securities is deemed to be
equivalent to fair value.
6. These amounts represents prepayments, and accruals. They do not have any observable market data and are short-term in
nature. Therefore, the carrying value for these amounts is deemed to be equivalent to fair value.
7. This amount represents Foreign exchange derivatives assets, valued to replacement cost using spot exchange rates and fx
forward spreads. Therefore, the carrying value for these amounts is deemed to be equivalent to fair value.

4.5 Foreign currency risk
The Bank holds both assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than GBP, its functional currency. It
is therefore exposed to currency risk as the value of the foreign currency assets and liabilities will fluctuate in
line with changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Bank manages its exposures to changes in foreign exchange rates by monitoring its overnight foreign
exchange positions and maintaining these positions within the parameters set by the Board. The Bank does not
currently deal in Derivative instruments for speculative purposes; however it holds foreign exchange currency
swaps to manage its operational exposure to foreign currency risk arising on certain transactions and balances
(2019: Nil 2018: Nil).
The table below considers financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in the currencies of the Bank’s
principal foreign exchange exposures in aggregate
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Financial assets
Denominated in US Dollars
Denominated in Euro
Denominated in Taka

Financial Liabilities
Denominated in US Dollars
Denominated in Euro
Denominated in Taka

2019
£

2018
£

107,305,682
367,099
-

139,594,128
85,393
-

107,672,781

139,679,521

2019
£

2018
£

106,905,110
386,141
397

139,893,219
128,808
4,238

107,291,648

140,026,265

The Bank’s main exposure through foreign currency risk is in USD as set out in the table below. Whenever
required, the exposure is economically hedged through foreign exchange swaps.
2019
£
Financial Assets
Financial liabilities

2018
£

107,672,781 139,679,521
107,291,648 140,026,265
381,133

Notional FX derivatives

28,144,087

(346,744)
-

Net exposures are not material and therefore the effect of movements in the foreign exchange currencies is not
expected to have a material impact on the bank.
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5

Geographical Information
The Bank mainly conducts its businesses in the UK and Bangladesh. There are few counterparties from outside
the above two countries where the Bank conducts limited business. The following tables show the geographical
breakdown of income, expenses and net asset position of the Bank for relevant periods.
Geographical - By Destination: 2019
UK
£

Bangladesh
£

Other
£

Total
£

Interest and similar income
Interest and similar expenses
Fees and commission income
Fees and commission Expenses
Other operating income

1,215,154
(1,421)
103,370
(63,834)
255,845

4,654,442
(1,722,250)
264,255
-

76,639
-

5,946,235
(1,728,842)
367,625
(63,834)
255,845

Segment measure of income

1,509,114

3,196,447

71,468

4,777,029

Central Expenses
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

(3,616,362)
1,004,184

Segment net assets/(liabilities)

32,014,405

(14,216,321) 44,795,300 62,593,384

Geographical - By Destination: 2018

Interest and similar income
Interest and similar expenses
Fees and commission income
Fees and commission Expenses
Other operating income

UK Bangladesh
£
£
1,781,295
5,532,479
(2,412)
(3,361,721)
109,854
195,189
(87,020)
(52,880)
244,413
-

Other
£
26,397
-

Total
£
7,340,171
(3,364,133)
305,043
(139,900)
244,413

Segment measure of income

2,046,130

26,397

4,385,594

2,313,067

Central Expenses
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

(4,295,732)
68,973

Segment net assets/(liabilities)

30,666,121

(26,883,398)

58,029,293

61,812,016

All corporation tax is paid in the UK and all the employees are in the UK. Further, the Bank has not received any
Government grants.
Net assets under the heading “Other” are cash placements and deposits with the branches of foreign banks
The Bangladesh country segment includes major customer Biman. Interest income arising from Biman
transactions was £1,766,765 (2018: £4,180,273).
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6

7

Interest and similar income
2019
£

2018
£

Loans and advances due from banks
Interest income from designated money market placements
Interest income from money at call
Interest income from discounted bills
Interest income from fixed loans
Interest income from investment securities

306,432
860,826
2,887,677
124,499

397,195
1,743,243
1,020,425
(1,055)

Loans and advances due from Customers
Interest income from UK individual customers
Interest income from Bangladesh corporates

36
1,766,765

90
4,180,273

5,946,235

7,340,171

2019
£

2018
£

Interest and similar expense

Deposits from banks
Interest expense to central banks
Interest expense to Sonali Bank Limited
Interest expense to other banks

(1,264,007)
(458,243)
(1,421)

(2,664,928)
(696,793)
(1,741)

Customer accounts
Interest expense to corporate customers
Interest expense to retail customers

-

(671)

(5,171)

-

Interest expense on lease liabilities

(1,728,842)

8

(3,364,133)

Fees and commission income
Disaggregation of fee and commission income
Below is the fee and commission income from contracts with customers, disaggregated by business, and are in
the scope of IFRS15

Earned on trade finance
Earned on remittance
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2019
£

2018
£

264,255
103,370

195,189
109,854

367,625

305,043
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Performance obligations and income recognition policies
Earned on trade finance
The bank provides services to Bangladeshi banks and worldwide exporters to support trade finance. This
includes advising and negotiating on letters of credit, checking documents relating to exporting and satisfying
payment requests between the importer's bank and the exporter's bank. The income on the service is recognised
when the service is executed or in the case of advising on letters of credit (L/C), 90 days after the negotiation of
the L/C.
Earned on remittance
The Bank provides a remittance service to United Kingdom customers who request that Bangladesh Taka (BDT)
is remitted to a beneficiary in Bangladesh. The obligation is to receive Pounds Sterling (GBP) from the customer,
convert the amount into Taka and remit to the beneficiary on the same or next day. The income on the transaction
is recognised when the transaction is executed.
Contract balances
There are no contract balance liabilities relating to these contracts as satisfaction of the obligation and receipt of
the fee income is simultaneous.

9

Fees and commission expense
2019
£
Payable on bank charges
Payable on service charges

10

(48,754)
(15,080)

(87,020)
(52,880)

(63,834)

(139,900)

Net income from other financial instruments at FVTPL
2019
£
Foreign exchange derivatives held for risk management

11

2018
£

(156,483)

2018
£

(87,020)

Other operating income

Gain on sale of investment property
Bank charges and disbursement income
Rental income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets
Other operating (expense)/income
Foreign Exchange gain
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2018
£

152,027
32,254
27,149
(1,623)
46,038

4,480
24,351
154,628
60,954

255,845

244,413
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12

Administrative expenses
2019
£
Legal and professional fees
Other administrative expenses

13

1,558,494

2,108,582

Operating profit

Operating profit for the year is stated after charging/(crediting):
Fees payable to the company's auditor for the audit of the company's financial
statements (including VAT)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of investment property
Amortisation of intangible assets

14

640,936
917,558

2018
£
812,636
1,295,946

2019
£

2018
£

124,944

113,274

86,363
120
401

71,288
743
-

Employees
The average monthly number of persons (including directors) employed by the company during the year was:

Employees

2019
Number

2018
Number

31

31

2019
£

2018
£

1,779,848
188,165
77,856

1,776,256
198,230
92,023

2,045,869

2,066,509

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Money purchase pension schemes
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15

Directors' remuneration

Remuneration for qualifying services
Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes

2019
£

2018
£

439,375
31,000

428,833
29,000

470,375

457,833

The number of directors for whom retirement benefits are accruing under defined contribution schemes
amounted to 2 (2018 - 2).
Remuneration disclosed above include the following amounts paid to the
highest paid director:

Remuneration for qualifying services
Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes

2019
£
155,000
15,500

2018
£
150,000
15,000

One of the Directors took a loan of £5,000 at the rate of 1.40% on 1 February 2016 for three years. The loan
was granted on the standard staff loan terms and conditions as per staff handbook and policy document. This
loan was being paid monthly through payroll deduction and has been fully repaid. The outstanding balance on
this loan as at 31 December 2019 was £nil. The maximum amount of loan outstanding during the year was £143.
There was no loan granted or outstanding to any of the other Directors in the year.

16

Income tax expense
2019
£

2018
£

Current tax
UK corporation tax on profits for the current period

179,672

10,447

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Adjustment in respect of prior periods

11,108
-

14,946
(11,400)

11,108

3,546

190,780

13,993

Total tax charge

The UK corporation tax rate is 19% (2018 :19%). The tax rate will be reduced to 17% (effective 1 April 2020,
enacted in Finance Act 2016). The deferred tax asset at 31 December 2019 has been calculated at 17% (2018:
17%).
The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows:
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Profit before taxation
Expected tax charge based on a corporation tax rate of 19.00%
Effect of expenses not deductible in determining taxable profit
Utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised

£

£

1,004,184

68,973

190,795

13,105

3,537

1,482

-

(11,370)
(1,758)

(16,787)

8,464

-

5,305

Transition adjustment

66

(1,235)

Prior year adjustment

3,291

-

11,184

-

190,780

13,993

Depreciation on assets not qualifying for tax allowances
Deferred tax recognised

Chargeable gain
Taxation charge for the year

Cash and bank balances
Measured at amortised cost
Cash on hand
Other nostro and designated money market fund

18

2018

(1,307)

Effect of change in UK corporation tax rate

17

2019

2019
£

2018
£

16,389
19,768,139

34,619
34,716,376

19,784,528

34,750,995

2019
£

2018
£

16,389
19,768,139
32,457,709

34,619
34,716,376
29,514,666

52,242,237

64,265,661

Cash and cash equivalents
Measured at amortised cost
Cash on hand
Other nostro and designated money market fund
Money at call
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19

Loans and advances due from banks
An analysis of the maturity of these amounts due is included in note 4.
Measured at amortised cost.
2019
£

Money at call
Discounted bills

Gross carrying
amount
32,457,709

ECL Carrying amount
allowance
0
32,457,709

Gross carrying
amount
29,514,666

ECL Carrying amount
allowance
(900)
29,513,766

66,677,444

(69,749)

66,607,695

48,573,927

(27,900)

48,546,027

9,036,096

(18,137)

9,017,959

34,500,000

(90,700)

34,409,300

108,171,249

(87,886)

108,083,363

112,588,593

(119,500)

112,469,093

Fixed loans to banks

20

2018
£

Loans and advances due from customers
An analysis of the maturity of these amounts due is included in note 4.

Measured at amortised cost
Loans to staff
Loans to Bangladesh corporate
Less impairment loss allowance

21

2018
£

12,110
-

8,754
51,056,889
-

12,110

51,065,643

Investment securities

Government bonds held at amortised cost
Corporate bonds held at amortised cost

22

2019
£

2019
£

2018
£

9,647,482
4,004,117

4,000,000

13,651,599

4,000,000

Cash Collateral Held on Loans and advances borrowed and lent
The Bank received cash collateral against loans and advances, letters of credit provided and guarantees given.
The carrying value of the amounts of cash that the Bank has received as collateral is as follows:
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At 31 December 2019
Cash collateral Cash collateral Cash collateral
pledged on
pledged on
pledged on
loans to Letter of credit guarantee given
Bangladesh
corporate

£

£

£

-

-

164,533

-

-

164,533

Liabilities
Due to banks
Due to customers

At 31 December 2018
Cash collateral Cash collateral Cash collateral
pledged on
pledged on
pledged on
loans to Letter of credit guarantee given
Bangladesh
corporate

£

£

£

51,056,889
-

-

220,791

51,056,889

-

220,791

Liabilities
Due to banks
Due to customers

No ECL loss allowance was recognised in 2018 on the loans to Bangladesh corporate, as they are fully cash
collateralised.

23

Derivatives held for risk management

Risk Exposure
Foreign exchange held at fair value through profit or loss

24

2019
£

2018
£

925,749

-

2019
£

2018
£

238,239
170,274

1,380,477
40,997

408,513

1,421,474

Other assets

Prepayments and accrued income
Other debtors
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Property, plant and equipment

Freehold
land and
buildings

Fixtures
and
fittings

Computers

Right of
Use

Total

£

£

£

£

£

1,931,232

414,236

341,566

-

2,687,034

-

-

6,742

-

6,742

1,931,232

414,236

348,308

-

2,693,776

-

-

-

285,737

285,737

1,931,232

414,236

348,308

285,737

2,979,513

-

3,774

19,986

-

23,760

1,931,232

418,010

368,294

285,737

3,003,273

At 1 January 2018

748,843

400,077

314,569

-

1,463,489

Charge for the year

51,445

4,826

15,017

-

71,288

800,288

404,903

329,586

-

1,534,777

-

-

-

210,790

210,790

800,288

404,903

329,586

210,790

1,745,567

51,441

3,937

12,248

18,737

86,363

851,729

408,840

341,834

229,527

1,831,930

At 31 December 2019

1,079,503

9,170

26,460

56,210

1,171,343

At 31 December 2018

1,130,944

9,333

18,722

-

1,158,999

At 31 December 2017

1,182,389

14,159

26,997

-

1,223,545

Cost
At 1 January 2018
Additions
At 31 December 2018
Recognition of right-of-use asset on initial
application of IFRS 16
Adjusted Balance 1 January 2019
Additions
At 31 December 2019
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 31 December 2018
Recognition of right-of-use asset on initial
application of IFRS 16
Adjusted Balance 1 January 2019
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2019
Carrying amount
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26

Intangible assets
Developed
software

Total

£

£

At 31 December 2017

-

-

At 31 December 2018
Additions

29,249

29,249

At 31 December 2019

29,249

29,249

-

-

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 31 December 2017
At 31 December 2018
Charge for the year

-

-

401

401

At 31 December 2019

401

401

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2019

28,848

28,848

-

-

2019
£

2018
£

38,031
(38,031)

38,031
-

-

38,031

13,931
120
(14,051)

13,188
743
-

At 31 December

-

13,931

Carrying value
At 31 December

-

24,100

At 31 December 2018
At 31 December 2017

27

Investment property

Cost
At 1 January
Disposals
At 31 December
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January
Charge for the year
Disposals
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The Bank’s only investment property was sold with vacant possession on 1 March 2019 for £180,000. The Bank
had chosen to adopt the cost model as the measurement basis for the investment property. The fair value at 31
December 2018 was assessed to be £180,000.
Rental income from investment property in 2019 was £nil (2018: £24,351).

28

Deferred taxation
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the company and movements
thereon during the current and prior reporting period
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where the company has a legally enforceable right to do so. The
following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting purposes:
2019
£

2018
£

Accelerated capital allowances
Transitional adjustments

(320)
(5,349)

(11,486)
(9,945)

Deferred tax assets

(5,668)

(21,431)

The directors have reviewed the level of deferred tax recognised carried forward and believe this is fairly stated.
The recovery of the deferred tax recognised is supported by the expected generation of future taxable profits
against which these can be utilised.

Tax rate changes
The Bank's profits for the year are taxed at an effective rate of 19%. Deferred tax has been recognised at a rate
of 17% as the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK will be reduced to 17% from 1 April 2020.

29

Deposits from banks
Measured at amortised cost
Due to central banks (Note 20)
Due to other banks
Due to Sonali Bank Limited
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2019
£

2018
£

97,741
80,537,451

51,056,889
40,767
91,033,770

80,635,192

142,131,426
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30

Customer accounts
The shareholders and the Board of SBUK decided to close the retail deposit business in July 2017 with the
closing process starting in September 2017 and accounts operationally closed to customers on 11 December
2017. All unclaimed balances were transferred to a Barclays Bank trustee account, ‘SBUK Unclaimed Retail
Deposits Trust’, administered by Trustee Richard Long & Co in three tranches on 29 December 2017, 16
February 2018 and 27 March 2018.

31

Other liabilities

Amounts received on account
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred expenses
Lease liabilities

32

2019
£

2018
£

11,626
179,119
297,699
79,899

12,013
226,086
577,725
-

568,343

815,824

Provisions for liabilities

Legal costs Provision
Oldham branch provision
Onerous contract (Manchester branch)

2019
£

2018
£

12,622
60,000
25,800

12,622
95,000
34,400

98,422

142,022

Analysis of provisions
Provisions are classified based on the amounts that are expected to be settled within the next 12 months and
after more than 12 months from the reporting date, as follows:
Current liabilities

98,422
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Movements on provisions:

Legal costs
Provision

Oldham
branch
provision

Onerous
contract
(Manchester
branch)
£
43,000
(8,600)

Total

At 1 January 2018
Additional provisions in the year
Utilisation of provision

£
12,622
-

£
80,000
15,000
-

At 31 December 2018

12,622

95,000

34,400

142,022

At 1 January 2019
Additional provisions in the year
Utilisation of provision

12,622
-

95,000
-

142,022
-

(35,000)

34,400
(8,600)

At 31 December 2019

12,622

60,000

25,800

98,422

£
135,622
15,000
(8,600)

(43,600)

In the provisions, the onerous lease contract relates to a lease expiring in three years. The Oldham Branch
provision relates to retail customer compensation claims arising from the Oldham branch (closed in December
2015), and are expected to conclude within one year.

33

Leases
Leases as Lessee
The Bank leased office premises which are no longer used as a branch. This property lease imposes no
restrictive covenants.
The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payables, showing the undiscounted lease payments to
be paid after the reporting date.

Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

2019
£

2018
£

27,600
55.200
-

27,600
82,800
-

82,800

110,400

Lease expenses relating to leases of low-value assets recognised in profit and loss for 2019: £13,145.
Total cash outflow for leases recognised in the statement of cash flows for 2019: £40,745
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Leases as Lessor
The Bank leases out unused leased property in its capacity as a lessor.
Rental income from sublet property in 2019 was £27,149 (2018: £24,351).
The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted lease payments
to be received after the reporting date.

Less than one year
One to two years
Two to three years
Three to four years

34

2019
£

2018
£

23,000
23,000
23,000
-

23,000
23,000
23,000
23,000

69,000

92,000

Related party transactions
The key management personnel are considered to be the Directors. Please refer to note 15 for details of the
Directors’ remuneration.
No guarantees have been given or received.
The Bank’s ultimate controlling party is the Government of Bangladesh. Individually significant transactions with
entities controlled by the Government of Bangladesh are as follows:
A loan with Biman Bangladesh Airlines and collateral deposit from the Central Bank of Bangladesh to fund the
Biman Loan was fully repaid during 2019. (The outstanding loan and collateral deposit balance outstanding at
the end of the preceding year were: $65,276,232 equivalent to £51,056,889).
Transactions and balance between group entities which are related parties are as follows:
Interest income
£
In 2019
From parent
From other group entities

In 2018
From parent
From other group entities

Interest expense
£

1,766,765
___________
1,766,765
___________

458,243
1,264,007
___________
1,722,250
___________

1,974
4,185,446
___________
4,187,420
___________

696,793
2,664,928
___________
3,361,721
___________
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The following loans and advances were in place at the reporting date:
Amounts due from
£
In 2019
From parent
From other group entities

In 2018
From parent
From other group entities

35

Amounts due to
£

8,187,460
___________
8,187,460
___________

80,537,451
___________
80,537,451
___________

4,117,211
65,358,333
___________
69,475,544
___________

91,033,770
51,056,889
___________
142,090,659
___________

Controlling party
The ultimate controlling party is the Government of Bangladesh. The Bank’s shares are held as follows:
1.
2.

The Government of Bangladesh
Sonali Bank Limited

51%
49%

Sonali Bank Limited registered office is 35-42,44 Motijheel Commercial Area, Dhaka-1000- Bangladesh. It is a
company incorporated in Bangladesh and is wholly owned by the Government of Bangladesh.

36

Capital management
The policy of the Bank is to maintain an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business
and meet the capital adequacy requirements of the Regulators. The adequacy of the Bank’s capital is monitored
using, among other measures, the rules and ratios established by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision
(BIS rules/ratios) and adopted by the PRA in supervising the Bank.
There have been no breaches reported in the Bank’s externally imposed capital requirements in the current and
preceding year.
Capital management policy
The primary objectives of the Bank’s capital management policy are to ensure that the Bank complies with
externally imposed capital requirements and maintains strong credit ratings and capital ratios in order to support
its business and to maximise shareholders’ value.
It is the Bank’s policy to monitor daily these requirements and subject those to stress testing as part of the
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP”). The ICAAP is presented to the Board for challenge
and approval. An impact assessment on the internal and regulatory capital adequacy is required to be made
before launching any new products or undertaking new activities.
The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it according to changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Bank may
adjust the amount of dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue capital securities.
No changes have been made to the objectives, policies and processes from the previous years.

- 61 -

SONALI BANK (UK) LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

2019
£

2018
£

Called up share capital
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings
Deductions:
Intangibles
Deferred tax other than temporary differences

61,463,800
1,129,584

61,463,800
348,216

(28,848)
(5,668)

(21,431)

Total Tier 1 capital

62,558,868

61,790,585

Tier 1 Capital - CET1

Regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 capital, which comprises share capital and retained earnings, including
current year profit, after deductions for intangible assets and other regulatory adjustments relating to items that
are included in equity but are treated differently for capital adequacy purposes.

37

Share capital

Ordinary share capital
Authorised
61,463,800 Ordinary of £1 each

Issued and fully paid
61,463,800 Ordinary of £1 each

2019
£

2018
£

61,463,800
_________

61,463,800
_________

61,463,800
_________

61,463,800
_________

Share capital represents the nominal value of ordinary shares issued and fully paid. The issued share capital
carries one voting right per share and does not carry any rights to fixed income.

38

Letter of credit and guarantees
As at the reporting date, the Bank had the following confirmed letters of credit and guarantees:
2019
£
Letters of credit opened/confirmed
Other banks

784,042
_________

2018
£
4,205,788
_________

All confirmed letters of credit will expire within one year

214,533

Guarantees

_________
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39

Contingent liabilities
There is no contingent liability or asset other than those described in note 38.

40

Events after the reporting date
Covid-19 pandemic
Since the balance sheet date there has been a global outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19),
causing substantial disruption to business and economic activity. On 11 March 2020, the World Health
Organisation declared the outbreak a pandemic.
The Directors considered the financial impact of this pandemic and have concluded that the matter is a nonadjusting post balance sheet event. See "Principal Risks and Uncertainties" in the Strategic Report on page 3,
and the going concern disclosures on page 7 of the Directors report for further information. As mentioned in the
strategic report, the Covid-19 pandemic is not anticipated to have any significant impact on the operations and
resilience of the Bank, as the Bank’s business continuity plans have been invoked and are performing as
expected to maintain business-as-usual operations. The strategic report also reflects management’s view on the
profitability, capital adequacy and liquidity of the Bank for the coming twelve months.
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